1986

# Judith A. Koerpel v. Barry Jon Koerpel : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the District Court err in ordering Dr. Koerpel to terminate and distribute the copies of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan ("the Plan") to Mrs. Koerpel?
2. Did the District Court err in awarding custody of Joshua John Koerpel and Bardin Blake Koerpel to Mrs. Koerpel?
3. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in finding that Dr. Koerpel was the moving force behind all business ventures with which he and Mrs. Koerpel were associated and that, consequently, Dr. Koerpel should inherit all business assets and business liabilities?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Dr. Barry J. Koerpel appeals the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce entered by the Honorable David Roth, Judge of the Second Judicial District Court, in a divorce action. The relevant facts pertaining to each of the issues identified in the Argument Section of this Brief are as follows:

A. Facts relevant to Dr. Koerpel's claim that the Court improperly ordered him to terminate the Defined Benefit Pension Plan of his professional corporation and distribute its corpus to Mrs. Koerpel:

1. The Barry J. Koerpel, M.D., Professional Corporation is a corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of Utah. (Supplemental Record Ex. A).

2. The plan was created in accordance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code (§§ 401-405) and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA).

3. The District Court ordered Dr. Koerpel to terminate the Plan and distribute \$100,000 from the corpus to Mrs. Koerpel as part of the Court's property award. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ 7, Record on Appeal, Pages 211-219).

4. The District Court found that it had considered Dr. Koerpel's claim that ERISA barred the Court from ordering the termination of the Plan and determined that it had the authority to order Dr. Koerpel to terminate the Plan and the further authority to hold him in contempt if he failed to do so. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law of May 20, 1986, ¶ 4, Record on Appeal, Pages 441-446. Under the terms of the

Plan, neither Dr. Koerpel nor Mrs. Koerpel has reached his "earliest retirement age," the earliest date on which either could elect to receive retirement benefits, nor did the Plan provide for benefits of the kind awarded by the Court.

B. Facts relevant to the issue of whether the District Court erred in its child custody determination:

1. Robert McVaugh, Ph.D., the only expert to interview Dr. and Mrs. Koerpel and the minor children, concluded that the best interests of the minor children would be served by having Dr. Koerpel designated as the custodial parent and made this recommendation to the Court. (McVaugh Evaluation, Supplemental Record Ex. B.

2. The Court based plaintiffs custody award to Mrs. Koerpel on its finding that she was the primary care giver and that Dr. Koerpel had failed to demonstrate that he was a superior parent to Mrs. Koerpel. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Paragraph 9, Record on Appeal, Pages 211-219.

Facts relevant to the issue of whether the District Court erred in assigning all business debts to Dr. Koerpel:

1. Pursuant to a Temporary Stipulation and Order entered by Judge Donald Hyde on October 31, 1984, Dr. Koerpel was restrained from interfering with Mrs. Koerpel's businesses, either directly or indirectly, Record on Appeal, Pages 12-14.



2. In an Affidavit dated February 7, 1985, Mrs. Koerpel alleged that Dr. Koerpel had prevented her from using or occupying "her" office thus preventing her from adequately carrying on "her" businesses, Record on Appeal, Pages 18-20. On April 22, 1985, Dr. Koerpel filed a Motion with the District Court to have a receiver appointed for Meadows Medical Services, Inc., one of the entities which Mrs. Koerpel claimed to be one of "her" businesses, Record on Appeal, Pages 67-69.

3. In a hearing before Judge Hyde on May 3, 1985, plaintiff's counsel represented to the Court that Mrs. Koerpel's business, Meadows Medical Services, Inc., was current in the payment of its bills.

4. In her Affidavit dated October 2, 1985, Mrs. Koerpel stated that she had been operating a dialysis clinic and receiving income from that clinic. In that Affidavit she accused the defendant of intentionally interfering with her business by encouraging technicians to compete against her, Record on Appeal, Pages 133-136.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. While judges have considerable latitude in fashioning property awards in domestic relations proceedings, they may not enter orders which would have the effect of violating statutes or impairing contracts. Since the enactment of ERISA in 1974, courts have wrestled with the issue of whether retirement plans created under ERISA are subject to domestic relations orders which contemplate benefits other than those set forth in the plan. In 1984, Congress laid this issue to rest by amending ERISA and creating Qualified Domestic Relations Orders (QDRO's). The QDRO amendment preempted state domestic relations law insofar as it limited the authority of state court justices to award plan benefits to spouses only when the QDRO provisions were met. The District Court's Decree ordering termination of Dr. Koerpel's professional corporation Plan is not a QDRO and hence is unenforceable.

2. In determining which parent should be awarded custody of minor children, the Court must serve the best interests of the children. Here, the Court awarded Mrs. Koerpel custody based upon a conclusion that she was the primary care provider during most of the minor children's lives and that there was "value" to be found in continuing the custody arrangement in place under the Temporary Custody

Order. The Court reached this conclusion against the recommendation of Dr. Robert McVaugh, a psychologist and the only expert to evaluate both parents and the children. In essence, the Court's custody award is based on an invocation of a maternal preference rule. This Court has recently repudiated use of a material preference rule because it deprives fathers of their rights, under the Utah and United States Constitutions.

3. The District Court erred in assigning all of the business debts to Dr. Koerpel. It concluded that Dr. Koerpel was the "moving force" behind the businesses and that he is in a better position to know what the liabilities of the businesses are. This conclusion is wholly unsupported by the compelling evidence in the record which documents without equivocation that Mrs. Koerpel considered herself to be in control of the businesses, even to the extent of obtaining a court order prohibiting Dr. Koerpel from "interfering," either directly or indirectly, in them.

## ARGUMENT

### I

THE 1984 AMENDMENTS TO ERISA PROHIBIT THE ENFORCEMENT OF STATE COURT ORDERS WHICH REQUIRE ALIENATION OF RETIREMENT PLANS IN A MANNER INCONSISTENT WITH THE ACT. ACCORDINGLY, THE DISTRICT COURT'S ORDER THAT DR. KOERPEL'S PLAN BE TERMINATED IS UNENFORCEABLE.

The enactment of ERISA 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq. in 1974 detonated an explosion of private pension and profit sharing plans in the United States. This was due, in great measure, to the tax advantages which could be realized by both employers and employees who enacted "qualified plans" under the Internal Revenue Code and ERISA. Among the prerequisites to "qualification" was a requirement that each pension plan provide that benefits provided under the plan not be assigned or alienated (29 U.S.C. § 1056(d)(1)). Additionally, ERISA contains a preemption section which declares that "this chapter shall supersede any and all state laws insofar as they now or hereafter relate to any employee benefit plan described (herein) . . . ." (29 U.S.C. § 1144(a)).

The enactment of ERISA with its anti-alienation and preemption provisions had the effect of sending federal pension law on a collision course with state domestic relations law. In the decade between the adoption of ERISA and the amendment creating Qualified Domestic Relations Orders, pension plan

administrators often confronted the dilemma of being ordered by a state court to pay over proceeds from an ERISA qualified plan in direct contravention of federal law and of plan provisions prohibiting alienation of benefits. As might be anticipated this situation stimulated substantial controversy. A line of cases which developed out of this conflict adopted the general view that Congress did not intend that ERISA preempt state domestic relations law permitting the attachment of benefits for the purpose of meeting those obligations. See, Biles v. Biles, 163 N.J. Super. 49 (N.J. Super. 1978); In re Marriage of Albert, 85 Cal. App. 3d 900 (Cal. App. 1978); Williams v. Williams, 163 Cal. App. 3d 793 (Cal. App. 1985).

In 1984, Congress responded to the uncertainty created by the conflict between ERISA and state domestic relations law by enacting an amendment to ERISA (29 U.S.C. § 1056(d)(3)). This amendment specified the circumstances under which a state court judge could fashion an order in a domestic relations action affecting an ERISA qualified plan without running afoul of ERISA's preemption provisions. A central component of these Qualified Domestic Relations Orders (QDRO's) is that they may not require a plan to provide any type or form of benefit not otherwise provided by the plan (29 U.S.C. § 1056(d)(3)). In other words, ERISA will permit a spouse to share in benefits

already contemplated under the terms of the plan, but it will not permit a spouse to enjoy benefits not contemplated by the plan.

Unquestionably, our state court judges enjoy broad discretion in fashioning property distribution--their decision-making guided by general principles of equity. English v. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977). Within this general framework, however, judges are constrained from making property awards which violate statutes, impair contracts or are unconstitutional. For example, in Berry v. Berry, 635 P.2d 68 (1981), the Utah Supreme Court reversed what it considered to be a well-intentioned property award on the grounds that it impermissibly transgressed prohibitions imposed by Utah's partnership law against the sale of partnership assets.

Similarly, in this case, the District Court unequivocally stated in its Finding of Fact No. 4 of May 20, 1986, that federal law did not "prohibit the Court from exercising its personal jurisdiction over Dr. Koerpel in ordering him to terminate the Plan." Under the clear language of the 1984 amendment to ERISA, this finding is incorrect. Nothing in the Plan contemplates a benefit to either Dr. or Mrs. Koerpel in the form of the property distribution set forth by the Court, furthermore, neither Dr. Koerpel nor Mrs. Koerpel

is currently eligible to receive benefits under the terms of ERISA or the Plan. For this reason, the issue of the property distribution under the Decree of Divorce must be remanded to the District Court for redetermination in accordance with equity and applicable federal law.

## II

### THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING CUSTODY OF JOSHUA JOHN KOERPEL AND BARDIN BLAKE KOERPEL TO MRS. KOERPEL.

In this domestic action, Dr. Koerpel sought an award of custody of his two sons, Joshua John Koerpel and Bardin Blake Koerpel. At trial, the Court received testimony and a written evaluation from Dr. Robert McVaugh, a psychologist and professor at Weber State College. After interviewing and administering numerous tests to Dr. and Mrs. Koerpel and each of their children, Dr. McVaugh concluded that the interests of the Koerpel boys would be served by awarding custody to Dr. Koerpel.

The Court rejected Dr. McVaugh's recommendation. As stated in its Findings of Fact, the Court based its award of custody to Mrs. Koerpel on a determination that Mrs. Koerpel had been the primary care provider for the children during most of their lives and that the custody arrangement which had been put in place by the Temporary Custody Order entered more than a

year before, appeared to be working. Findings and Fact and Conclusions of Law, paragraph 9. Record on Appeal, Pages 211-219. For the reasons that follow, neither of these grounds is adequate to overturn the recommendation of Dr. McVaugh.

First, it is improper to base a permanent custody award upon a finding that the children have been prospering under the terms of a temporary award. Temporary custody awards are routinely granted without the benefit of psychological evaluations, home studies, or the other recognized evidentiary bases for determining which parent can better serve the interests of the child as custodian. As a practical matter, they are exercises in expediency typically continuing the custodial status quo. Rarely are they supported by express findings of the Court. Certainly, if Dr. Koerpel had been the temporary custodial parent, that arrangement too would have "worked".

Dr. Koerpel was not, however, afforded an equal opportunity to demonstrate that the Koerpel boys would have prospered under his temporary custodial care. In short, the Court seized on a wholly fortuitous event--the designation of Mrs. Koerpel as the temporary custodial parent--and elevated it to the status of an evidentiary basis for an award of permanent custody. To permit a party who is granted temporary custody to



enjoy a presumption that she is entitled to an award of permanent custody is to greatly increase the stakes for the contestants in a temporary custody proceeding. Such a rule of law would necessarily create a more contentious environment, replete with demands for exhaustive evaluations, at a preliminary stage in the divorce proceedings when accommodation and expediency are at a premium.

The findings of fact also suggest that Mrs. Koerpel has been the primary care provider for the children. However, it is impossible to tell from the findings whether the trial court based its primary care finding on a functional analysis of primary care, or on visceral, gender-based reasoning. The only finding related to primary care concludes that the parties were approximately even in giving personal versus surrogate care.

In the recent case of Pusey v. Pusey, No. 20365 (Utah, August 18, 1986), this Court struck down the vestiges of maternal preference guidelines in this state; custody decisions are properly based only on functional considerations. Without further factual explanation of the trial court's primary care finding, its custody decision is tainted by the outdated maternal preference rule and should be remanded for further consideration.

Finally, the Court defended its custody award by stating that it was not satisfied "that the evidence shows the defendant (Dr. Koerpel) would be a superior parent to the extent that the Court should move the children from the plaintiff into the defendant's custody." (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶/9, Record on Appeal, Pages 211-219). This statement demonstrates that the Court was imposing on Dr. Koerpel an impermissible burden of proving that he was a superior parent to Mrs. Koerpel. Of course, custody is to be determined with a view towards serving the best interests of the child. Here, the Court explicitly elevated the interests of the mother, Mrs. Koerpel, over the interests of either the children or Dr. Koerpel by requiring that Dr. Koerpel make a showing that he was a superior parent before considering him for a custody award. This represents a clear misstatement of Utah domestic relations law. It also reinforces the Court's improper placement of emphasis on temporary custody awards. Based on the Court's finding, the law in the State of Utah would appear to place on the parent not granted temporary custody the burden of showing that he or she was a superior parent when the time came to contest permanent custody. For these reasons, the Court committed error and abuse of discretion in awarding custody of Joshua John Koerpel and Bardin Blake Koerpel to Mrs. Koerpel.

### III

#### THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY INEQUITABLY ASSIGNING ALL BUSINESS LIABILITIES TO DR. KOERPEL

The District Court found that Dr. Koerpel was the "moving force behind all of the business ventures so he will inherit all business assets and all business liabilities . . . . The defendant (Dr. Koerpel) is in a better position to know what the liabilities are and to handle the liabilities." (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ 7, Record on Appeal, Pages 211-219). The businesses addressed in this finding were a hemodialysis clinic, Meadows Medical Services, Inc., and a tanning salon, Touch of Tan, Inc. In the interval since the entry of the Decree of Divorce, numerous lawsuits have been commenced by parties claiming to be creditors of these business entities. In addition, Mrs. Koerpel has forwarded to Dr. Koerpel a substantial number of bills incurred and unpaid by Meadows Medical Services, Inc.

A brief review of the record in this action amply demonstrates why the Trial Court's finding that Dr. Koerpel should assume the business debts because of his "better position to know" the nature of the liabilities is wholly without foundation. On October 30, 1984, Mrs. Koerpel signed a Verified Complaint for Divorce and Temporary Stipulation. Both

papers seek to have Dr. Koerpel restrained from interfering with Mrs. Koerpel's businesses (Meadows Medical Services and Touch of Tan, Inc.), either directly or indirectly. It was with considerable zeal that Mrs. Koerpel sought to insulate these businesses from any involvement or scrutiny by Dr. Koerpel. On February 7, 1985, Mrs. Koerpel signed an Affidavit in support of an Order to Show Cause in which she alleged that Dr. Koerpel had prevented her from using or occupying her office, which has prevented her from adequately carrying on her businesses (Record on Appeal, Pages 18-20). On April 22, 1985, Dr. Koerpel filed a Motion to Appoint a Receiver for Meadows Medical Services. This Motion was based upon the Affidavit of one of Meadows' employees, Larry Carlson. Mr. Carlson testified to extensive acts of mismanagement of Meadows by Mrs. Koerpel. Mrs. Koerpel responded by filing an Order to Show Cause supported by her Affidavit which reaffirmed her request for the entry of an order preventing Dr. Koerpel from interfering with Mrs. Koerpel's business known as Meadows Medical Services, Inc. in any way, either directly or indirectly.

At a subsequent hearing on May 3, 1985, Mrs. Koerpel's counsel represented to the Court that as of that date, Meadows Medical Service was current in the payment of its bills and

that so long as Dr. Koerpel continued to make his child support payments under the Court's Temporary Order, Mrs. Koerpel would not be required to take money from Meadows to support herself.

It is clear that from the outset of this divorce action, Mrs. Koerpel has taken the position that the businesses in question were hers. On numerous occasions, she has sought to seek the intervention of the Court to prohibit Dr. Koerpel from exercising any control over the management of these entities. At trial, Mrs. Koerpel presented documentary evidence in the form of a Statement of Net Assets. On this exhibit, Mrs. Koerpel again reflected no existing debt for either Meadows Medical Services, Inc. or Touch of Tan's parent, Streb-Kor, Inc. Notwithstanding the presence of unequivocal evidence that Mrs. Koerpel exercised exclusive control over these businesses, and her testimony that they were debt-free, Mrs. Koerpel initiated post-trial proceedings against Dr. Koerpel in which she sought to have him held in contempt of court for allegedly failing to pay a multitude of business obligations (see Affidavit of Judith Koerpel, March 6, 1986). The Affidavit of Barry Koerpel dated January 28, 1986, details many of the obligations which Mrs. Koerpel concealed from the Trial Court but for which she now seeks to have Dr. Koerpel stand accountable.

## CONCLUSION

The District Court erred in its decision to order Dr. Koerpel, in his position as administrator of a professional corporation Pension Plan, to terminate the plan. The Court's Order violates ERISA, the Federal statute governing such plans. Unqualified Orders such as these were specifically pre-empted by Congress to preserve the integrity of pension plans and benefits. The decision of the District Court on this issue was an error of law, and should be reversed.

The divorce decree in this case saddled Dr. Koerpel with obligations of which he was not aware and which he was in fact prohibited by judicial decree from controlling or mitigating. An inequity of this magnitude constitutes an abuse of discretion. The Court should therefore reverse and remand for redetermination of the property award consistent with a finding that Mrs. Koerpel, rather than Dr. Koerpel, controlled the fate of "her" businesses.

The Court should also reverse and remand on the issue of child custody. The Court's decision on this issue was based at least in part on impermissible considerations. These considerations were allowed to override the testimony of an unbiased professional custody evaluator that Dr. Koerpel would be a superior primary care provider. Because the findings of

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