1986

# Judith A. Koerpel v. Barry Jon Koerpel : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### POINT II

#### THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY INEQUITABLY DIVIDING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF THE PARTIES

The respondent contends that this issue is one of fact and not one of law. The appellant did not cite any law in his Brief supporting his request that the lower Court's decision concerning the liabilities and assets of the party be overturned. The lower Court received extensive evidence concerning the assets and liabilities of the parties and concluded that the appellant had failed to provide the necessary information in response to depositions and motions for discovery and had failed to adequately inform the Court of his liabilities and assets. The Court awarded to the appellant all assets and liabilities except

for the furniture, vehicles, a contract, and \$100,000.00 cash held with Merrill Lynch. The respondent believes the Court ruling was supported by the evidence and was not an abuse of the Court's discretion.

### POINT III

THE COURT'S ORDER AWARDING THE RESPONDENT \$100,000.00  
OF THE SUM HELD IN THE MERRILL LYNCH MONEY MARKET  
WAS LEGAL AND SHOULD BE SUSTAINED BY THIS COURT

The appellant contends that the Trial Court is prohibited by federal law from awarding \$100,000.00 of the money held in Merrill Lynch Money Market to the respondent. The respondent contends that this issue was not raised during the trial of this matter, but was addressed by the Court in an Order to Show Cause filed thereafter. The appellant has not appealed the Court's ruling in the Order to Show Cause and consequently this matter is not properly before the Court. The respondent also contends that the money held in the Merrill Lynch Money Market account was held in the individual name of the appellant, Dr. Koerpel, and not in the name of the Pension and Profit Sharing Fund. Consequently, the federal law, if applicable, would have no effect upon the lower Court's decision. In the event this Court determines that the federal law is applicable, it does not prohibit the action taken by the Trial Court and cannot interfere with the personal jurisdiction the Court has over the individual and the right of the Trial Court to hold the appellant in contempt if he fails to voluntarily terminate the profit and pension sharing plan in order to withdraw the \$100,000.00.



## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN AWARDING THE RESPONDENT CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN

Rule 11(e)(2) U.R.A.P. states as follows:

If the appellant intends to urge an appeal that a finding or a conclusion is unsupported by or is contrary to the evidence, he shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such findings or conclusion.

The appellant in the memorandum filed with this Court in response to the respondent's motion for dismissal stated that he was not claiming that the lower Court had committed error or made a finding unsupported or contrary to evidence. Based upon that representation, this Court ruled that the appellant does not have the right to argue any factual issues to support its appeal. Point II of the appellant's Brief which deals with the custody of the minor children specifically states that the Court abused its discretion in awarding the custody of the children to the respondent. It is the position of the respondent that in light of the Supreme Court's ruling there is no way the appellant can be allowed to continue to pursue this part of his appeal.

The primary focus of the appellant's appeal concerning the custody of the children is that the Court committed error in the weight it placed upon the fact that the respondent had been the primary care provider for the children and that the evidence was not sufficient to move the children from the respondent's care into that of the appellant's. The parties did not make a big issue concerning the oldest minor child, Melanie, who turned 17

during the course of the trial. It was the feeling of the parties that she was old enough to live with whichever parent she elected. The main focus was on the custody of Joshua, who was five years of age, and Bradin, who was three years of age. The testimony given at the trial was undisputed that the respondent had been the primary care provider for these children from their birth until the time of the trial. The Court also considered the fact that these children had been living with the respondent from the beginning of the divorce action in October of 1984 until the time of the trial in November of 1985. The appellant complains that a temporary order of the Court should not have any bearing upon the long term determination of the custody. The appellant overlooks the fact that the parties entered into a temporary stipulation on the date the Divorce Complaint was prepared, October 30, 1984, wherein the appellant voluntarily agreed that the respondent could have the temporary care, custody, and control of the parties four minor children, subject to reasonable rights of visitation. (R. 12) The District Court later affirmed the temporary custody in the respondent. (R. 65)

At the time of the trial, the Court determined from the evidence that the children had been cared for properly and had functioned well during the approximate one year that they had been in the temporary custody of their mother the respondent. The Court found that there was no reason to change the custody from the primary care provider to the appellant and concluded that there was no evidence to demonstrate that the appellant would be a superior parent to the respondent. The Court did find

that there was a mild recommendation by one of the psychiatrists based upon the psychological test administered by Dr. McVaugh, but that that mild recommendation did not over weigh the other considerations. It should be pointed out that a psychiatrist also testified in the trial on behalf of the respondent and recommended that she would be the fit and proper parent to have the permanent care, custody, and control of the minor children. The Court also heard seven other witnesses who testified concerning the fitness of both parents to raise the children. The Court gave due consideration to all of the issues including the moral character of both parents, the emotional stability of the parents, the personal vs. surrogate care of the minor children by the parents, the lack of evidence of any drug or alcohol abuse on the part of either party, the religious compatibility of the parties, the financial condition of the parties, and the importance of keeping the siblings together. (R. 207-209, 214-215) It was only after considering all of these issues that the Court concluded that neither parent was an unfit parent and that the welfare of the children would be best served by leaving them with the mother.

This Court in the case of Wall v. Wall, 700 P.2d 1124 (Utah 1985) stated that where the evidence concerning custody could support an award of the children to either party, the Supreme Court would defer to the judgment of the Trial Court since the Trial Court is in a better position to assess the numerous considerations that must be determined in awarding custody of the children. It is the position of the respondent

that the Trial Court considered all of the relevant issues and there is no basis to support the conclusion that the Trial Court erred or abused its discretion in awarding the children to the respondent.

## POINT II

### THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY INEQUITABLY DIVIDING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF THE PARTIES

The Court's attention is directed to the introductory remarks under Point I of this Brief which relate to the fact that since the appellant did not obtain a transcript of the proceedings of the lower Court under Rule 11(e)(2) U.R.A.P. the appellant should not be permitted to allege that the findings of the lower Court was unsupported by or contrary to the evidence. Point III of the appellant's Brief claims that the District Court erred by inequitable assigning the business liability to Dr. Koerpel, but does not argue any issue of law.

Numerous witnesses, including two accountants, were called by the parties to testify as to the assets and liabilities incurred by the parties during their marriage. The respondent had made a diligent effort to discover the assets and liabilities of the parties, but had not obtained the cooperation of the respondent. Prior to the trial, the respondent was required to file a motion to compel the appellant to provide this information. (R. 99-101) On October 28, 1985, approximately one week before the trial, the Court entered an order that the parties must appear in the office of the respondent's attorney for deposition. (R. 141) The failure of the appellant to

provide the information previously requested made it necessary for the respondent to subpoena 19 separate parties to produce records at the time of the trial concerning the appellant's financial affairs. (R. 145-176) The failure of the appellant to respond to the reasonable request for production of documents, caused the Court to conclude in its Order denying the appellant's motion for new trial that the appellant had failed to cooperate with the respondent in her attempts to discover information concerning the properties of the parties and that the defendant had ample opportunity to discover the status of his own properties and to have had that information available at the time of the trial. The Court further found that there was no basis for the appellant's contention that there was excusable error or neglect in him not knowing the full nature and value of the properties which he had acquired during the marriage. (R. 289) The fact of the matter is that the appellant claimed to be ignorant concerning the assets of the parties and refused to cooperate in producing the necessary information prior to the time of the trial. Even with the information which had been subpoenaed by the respondent, the Court found that on many of the issues the evidence was not very clear. (R. 206) The Court awarded the business assets and liabilities to the appellant because the appellant was the moving force behind the business ventures, and because

...I think he is in a better position to handle the liabilities. He is in a better position to know what they are. I am also keeping in mind that in my opinion the defendant has at all times had the means to determine the actual state of his affairs.

I am not sure he has done so. In any event, he will be responsible for those now.... (R. 206)

The appellant in his Brief attempts to address the responsibility of the parties concerning the business assets and debts which were accumulated during the marriage. Since the appellant has not produced a transcript, he relies in part upon the affidavits and motions which have been filed prior to the divorce proceedings. It is the position of the respondent that those affidavits and motions cannot be relied upon in an appeal. Each affidavit which was filed by the appellant prior to the trial was opposed by an affidavit of the respondent. An affidavit may be relied upon by the Court in support of a motion if it is unopposed. However, when an affidavit is opposed by a countering affidavit then the Court must take testimony and allow direct and cross examination of the parties in order to determine the facts. There is no evidence before this Court that Judge Roth, the Trial Judge, ever read or considered the affidavits that had been filed over a period of approximately one year in support of motions made prior to the trial. Judge Roth did receive extensive testimony during the trial and based upon the testimony and exhibits entered the property award which is being appealed by the appellant. All the parties who filed affidavits before the Court prior to the trial, were present in Court and presented testimony under oath.

It is the position of the respondent that the Trial Court's decision was adequately supported by the testimony presented at the trial and should be upheld by this Court.

POINT III

THE COURT'S ORDER AWARDING THE RESPONDENT \$100,000.00  
OF THE SUM HELD IN THE MERRILL LYNCH MONEY MARKET  
WAS LEGAL AND SHOULD BE SUSTAINED BY THIS COURT

This Court has ruled that the appellant may not argue issues of fact and is restricted on this appeal to issues of law only. The appellant contends that the Employee Retirement Income Security Act commonly known as ERISA 29 U.S.C. § 1001 et seq. prohibits the Trial Court from requiring the appellant to deliver \$100,000.00 of the cash held with Merrill Lynch to the respondent. The appellant also claims that the Divorce Decree was not a qualified domestic relations order or a QDRO as required in 29 U.S.C. § 1056(D).

The appellant did not raise these issues of the law before Judge Roth during the divorce trial. Reference to Judge Roth's Memorandum Decision which consisted of eight pages will demonstrate that there is not a single reference made to the federal laws nor is there any indication that the Court has been called upon to make a decision as to whether or not the Court has the authority to distribute the assets that are allegedly contained in the Barry J. Koerpel Professional Corporation Defined Benefit Plan. (R. 202-210) Likewise, there is no reference to the federal acts or the ability of the Court to disburse assets allegedly held in the Defined Benefit Plan contained in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Divorce Decree which were prepared in this case. (R. 211-222) The record is devoid of any objection filed by the appellant and his counsel to the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Divorce

Decree prepared in this matter. Had the Trial Court neglected to address an issue which had been introduced during the trial or had counsel for the respondent failed to include that information in the formal Findings, Conclusions, and Decree; the appellant and his counsel would have objected. The first time that the record demonstrates the appellant or his counsel raises the issues of the federal law is in a memorandum submitted in support of the appellant's request for a new trial. Paragraph 3 of that memorandum states that the appellant had contemplated terminating the plan at the time of the trial. (R. 232) That memorandum then makes reference to the federal law concerning defined benefit plans. Nowhere in the memorandum does the appellant contend that the federal issue had been raised during the trial and that the Court failed to give due consideration to it. The memorandum is clear that the issue is being raised for the first time on the motion for a new trial. (R. 232-234) The Trial Court, in its ruling on the motion for a new trial in Paragraph 3 of the Findings, stated that the Court would allow the appellant a hearing to address the issues concerning awarding part of the pension plans to the respondent. (R. 289) The appellant had the responsibility for setting the matter for a hearing. To date a hearing has not been requested on that issue pursuant to the ruling on the motion for a new trial. (R. 289)

The ruling on the motion for a new trial was signed by the Judge Roth on the 6th day of March, 1986. On March 7, 1986 the respondent filed an Order to Show Cause asking in part that the appellant be compelled to deliver the \$100,000.00. In response



to that Order to Show Cause, the appellant raised the issue of the federal acts and whether or not the Court could enforce the provision of the Divorce Decree awarding to the respondent part of the Defined Benefit Plan. A hearing was held on that matter and an Order was entered on May 20, 1986 by Judge Roth. In Paragraph 4 of the Findings, Judge Roth stated:

That the Court has considered the argument of the defendant, that the Employment Retirement Security Act (ERISA) prohibits the Court from transferring the money held in the Merrill Lynch money market certificates to the plaintiff because it is not a qualified domestic relations order. The Court has reviewed the law on this matter and finds that the federal act does not prohibit the Court from exercising its personal jurisdiction in ordering him to terminate the plan. The Court finds that the plan can be voluntarily terminated by Dr. Koerpel and that the Court has the authority to hold him in contempt if he fails to terminate the plan and turn over the money as previously ordered.... (R. 442-443)

The appellant has not appealed to this Court from the ruling of the Court on the respondent's Order to Show Cause dated May 20, 1986. While the appellant in his appeal did indicate he was appealing from the decision on the Motion for New Trial, on Page 1 of his Brief under Statement of Facts, the appellant states that he is only appealing from the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Divorce Decree entered by Judge Roth. Based upon the record referred to herein, the respondent contends that the issue of federal law and its impact on Judge Roth's Divorce Decree was not raised before the lower Court and cannot be raised for the first time before this Court.

The appellant has consistently claimed that the approximately \$114,421.00 held in the Merrill Lynch Money Market

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